

Eclética Química ISSN: 0100-4670 ISSN: 1678-4618 ecletica@iq.unesp.br

Universidade Estadual Paulista Júlio de Mesquita Filho Brasil

Widarti, Hayuni Retno; Baharsyah, Allykha; Rokhim, Deni Ainur; Syafrudin, Afis Baghiz Is the use of the Problem-Based Learning Model through Instagram effective? A Review Eclética Química, vol. 48, núm. 4, 2023, pp. 17-26 Universidade Estadual Paulista Júlio de Mesquita Filho Araraquara, Brasil

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26850/1678-4618eqj.v48.4.2023.p17-26

Disponible en: https://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=42977076001



Número completo

Más información del artículo

Página de la revista en redalyc.org



Sistema de Información Científica Redalyc

Red de Revistas Científicas de América Latina y el Caribe, España y Portugal Proyecto académico sin fines de lucro, desarrollado bajo la iniciativa de acceso abierto



| Vol. 48 | n. 4 | 2023 |

# Is the use of the Problem-Based Learning Model through Instagram effective? A Review

Hayuni Retno Widarti¹+o, Allykha Baharsyah¹o⊠, Deni Ainur Rokhim¹,²o⊠, Afis Baghiz Syafrudin¹o⊠

- 1. Malang State University RCR, Department of Chemical Education, East Java, Indonesia.
- 2. SMAN 3 Sidoarjo, Chemistry and Prakarya, East Java, Indonesia.

+Corresponding author: Hayuni Retno Widarti, Phone: +62 812-3245-8494, Email address: hayuni.retno.fmipa@um.ac.id

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history:

Received: November 20, 2022 Accepted: July 24, 2023 Published: October 03, 2023

Section Editors: Natany Dayani de Souza Assai

Keywords:

- 1. Instagram media
- 2. teaching of chemistry
- 3. problem-based learning

ABSTRACT: Chemistry is still considered a difficult subject for students due to a lack of motivation and understanding. Implementing a problem-based learning (PBL) model with the media of Instagram can help students expand their critical thinking and problem-solving skills. To this end, 20 empirical research articles from inside and outside Indonesia were examined using the bibliometric analysis method to find research gaps and novelties as a basis for future research. The review shows various difficulties faced by students in studying chemistry. Instagram-based chemistry learning can help the learning process to be fun, innovative, easy to understand and not boring. Applying the PBL model to learning can help students develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills. The results of this analysis offer perspectives and innovations for teachers to deal with the problems faced by students, presenting innovations in learning, such as the use of Instagram and PBL models.



### **CONTENTS**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Experimental
- 2.1 Determine the keyword
- 2.2 Literature data selection
- 2.3 Literature data extraction and analysis
- 3. Results and discussion
  - 3.1 Application and effectiveness of using Instagram media in learning
  - 3.2 PBL on reaction rate material

4. Conclusions
Authors' contribution
Data availability statement
Funding
Acknowledgments
References



### 1. Introduction

Essentially, as time progresses, continuous development is inevitable. In light of this circumstance, it is necessary to improve the quality of human resources that can withstand the age of globalization. One of the efforts to improve the quality of human resources is education. In order to achieve the educational goals, it is necessary for the student to really pay attention to the study process in accordance with the applicable curriculum. In Indonesia, the 2013 curriculum is based on a scientific approach with four learning models, including discovery, inquiry, problem-based and projectbased learning. What teachers need to do when implementing the 2013 curriculum is to help students develop habits so that they can always increase their awareness of learning, because the 2013 curriculum is applied based on existing problems. For this reason, students are expected to actively participate in the learning process (Sariono, 2013).

Problem solving is part of the reasoning process. This process is generally considered to be the most complex of all the characteristics of intelligence and can be interpreted as a higher-order cognitive process that requires more coordination and control of routines or other basic skills. Problem-solving skills include critical, logical and systematic thinking. An integrated teaching process can help students develop the ability to express and execute them in real life and relate what they have learned to life experiences. Thus, education should focus on improving skills and unleashing students' creativity to solve problems. The problem presented is usually taken from the real world, as a context for students to practice critical thinking and problem solving (Amir, 2009).

Memnun *et al.* (2012) found that the main goal and priority in education today is to train students to be more flexible in solving problems and to deal with all the problems they face. This shows that problem-solving skills play a very important role in the world of education. Hamiyah and Jauhar (2014) suggested that the indicators of problem-solving skills are divided into four parts: understanding the problem, planning the solution, dealing with the problem according to the plan created and re-examining all the steps.

Chemistry presents itself as a complex scientific discipline encompassing the examination of matter's structure, composition, properties, and the alterations it undergoes, often involving energy transformations. The difficulties experienced by students in studying chemistry can be attributed to the inherent complexities of this field. Prilianti (2012) suggested that chemistry has characteristics that are mostly abstract, sequential, and

fast-developing concepts. He also proposed that difficulties in understanding the subject are rooted in problems understanding chemical concepts.

One of the chemistry subjects studied in Indonesian high schools is reaction rate. Sudarsana (2010) stated that the reaction rate subject taught there is still taught through lectures or memorization of most reaction rate concepts. This encourages teachers to apply the problem-based learning (PBL) model to the concept of reaction rate, because the material factors that affect reaction rate are closely related to the real world. In addition, the PBL model can also involve students in being active in the classroom, collaborating and finding solutions to the problems being studied. It is expected that the active participation of all students in their learning and the enhancement of their critical thinking skills will improve their learning outcomes, especially cognitive learning outcomes.

While learning and teaching chemistry, the usefulness of a teaching model determines student interest and success. The use of an inappropriate teaching model is a factor that makes learning chemistry difficult for students. They feel that what they learn is not related to their everyday lives. Chemistry is abstract and requires student activity to solve various chemistry-related problems.

A PBL strategy encompasses a series of learning activities. In short, it requires students to learn through PBL, rather than simply listening, taking notes, and memorizing information. With such strategies, they are proactive in thinking, communicating, researching, and reprocessing, entering data and finally completing it. In addition, problem-solving is done by applying scientific approaches. Thinking scientifically is a deductive and inductive thought process. The fact that the thinking process is carried out systematically means that scientific thinking is performed at a specific stage, and empirically means that the problem-solving process is performed with clear data.

Based on the characteristics of the reaction rate subject, Instagram-assisted PBL can be carried out. The number of Instagram users in Indonesia in 2020 reached 99.9 million people (Siahaan et al., 2022). The most important reason for using Instagram as a learning medium is that students are familiar with its use. Since almost all students already have laptops and gadgets and still use Instagram, more educators do not have to pay much to apply it. It is also easy to apply, as it is an app that can be used anywhere. It is also easy to use, as it does not require any special training.

Furthermore, there are several reasons to consider Instagram as a learning medium: 1) Instagram can be used at all levels of education; 2) Instagram gives students the authority to create digital content on their own and publish it online, which can stimulate student and educator activity in teaching; and 3) Instagram allows collaboration between students and educators on a specific project or task to achieve learning objectives.

Structured learning based on PBL syntax, whose content consists of text, images, or videos or all three, is accompanied by instructions that students can use independently in their learning, without being limited by space and time. Indah (2021) proposed that, in relation to students' needs and characteristics, 94.4% of them use the Internet frequently to do tasks and understand content. Based on the results obtained in this study, the same percentage of students often use and like the social media Instagram.

Sujiono and Widiyatmoko (2014) suggested that PBL is very effective in expanding students' ability to think critically. The subject of reaction rate is closely related to counting. Jayadiningrat and Ati (2018) used a PBL model in chemistry learning and found that the application of this PBL can improve problem-solving skills in chemistry subjects, recognizing and formulating the problem, exploring alternative solutions, choosing the best solution and solving problems smoothly.

Oktaviani *et al.* (2017) found that using PBL as a learning model on the concept of reaction rate has a very good effect on the creativity aspects of students. Through PBL activities, students who acquire knowledge from discoveries made in the problem observation phase in the form of practical images and videos gradually begin to construct all the information found and obtained into their thinking patterns.

Social media has not been widely used for learning purposes, but this is an effort to make learning activities more fun and learning objectives achievable. The use of Instagram can have a positive impact on improving students' learning skills and understanding. Uploads made on Instagram can be visualized and displayed in feeds that can be viewed by Instagram followers and researchers in general. Instagram users can interact and chat with each other by commenting on or liking the uploaded photos and videos that have been published. Meanwhile, to interact privately, Instagram also offers a chat feature that is commonly referred to as a direct message or DM. Instagram can be used on various devices, such as smartphones, laptops and so on (Ambarsari, 2021).

The features available on Instagram really support the learning process: such as the TV function, which can deliver materials from 1 to 60 minutes; the Feed Post function, which can publish an overview of the material to be delivered; there is a background sound option that can be used to increase students' enthusiasm; the live

feature, which is used by users who are doing activities and want to interact with their followers, as if they were talking directly to them and the audience that can be answered via chat (Al Mardhiah *et al.*, 2021).

Instagram's Stories feature consists of a 15-second photo or video upload that will automatically disappear within 24 hours, unless the upload is inserted into the Highlights on the Instagram account profile. In Instagram's Highlights feature, it is possible to create groups of Stories according to their categories. This makes it easier for students to review learning materials. Instagram also offers a variety of interesting music that can be used as a background. The use of such music can also increase students' interest in learning (Al Mardhiah et al., 2021).

This is in line with the research on Instagram as a learning medium, which shows that the use of Instagrambased learning can increase student motivation, as the features of Instagram are diverse and interesting, which makes it easier for students to understand (Fidian, 2017). Irwandani and Juariyah (2016) suggested that those who use Instagram in their research show that developing products with the help of this social network is feasible, effective and can be used as an alternative for learning, as it can be accessed anytime and anywhere. Therefore, this study aims to provide a literature review to analyze the use of Instagram for learning purposes, including PBL models. The following is the main research question that this study seeks to answer: Is the use of the PBL model using Instagram effective for use in the chemistry learning process?

# 2. Experimental

The method used to complete this article using the bibliometric literature or article review method. The use of bibliometric analysis techniques can provide an accurate and objective way of measuring an article's contribution to the advancement of knowledge and is a commonly used tool for analyzing trends and performance on a particular subject (Yang *et al.*, 2013). Bibliometric analysis is a common method for investigating and analyzing large amounts of scientific data. Bibliometric analysis is used in the hope of finding research gaps and novelties as the basis for further research.

The bibliometric method of literature review was used to prepare this article. Bibliometric analysis techniques can provide an accurate and objective way of measuring an article's contribution to the advancement of knowledge and are commonly used tools for analyzing

trends and the performance of a given subject. Bibliometric analysis is a common method for investigating and analyzing large amounts of scientific data and is used in the hope of finding research gaps and novelties that serve as a basis for new research (Yang *et al.*, 2013).

The researchers investigated journal articles on the effectiveness of learning through Instagram on the grounds of a PBL approach in the context of reaction rate. This research used 20 national and international articles through a search on the Google Scholar platform. The articles used have undergone similar research and were analyzed and summarized. The results of the research are summarized in this article for discussion.

According to Tranfield *et al.* (2003), the method used in this study consisted of five steps, namely.

### 2.1 Determine the keyword

In this study, the keywords used to search for related literature in Google Scholar using Publish or Perish 7 software were "the application of Instagram media in learning," "the effectiveness of Instagram media in learning," and "Problem-Based Learning (PBL) on reaction rate material."

### 2.2 Literature data selection

This was done by reading the title of each article on the research topic when selecting the bibliographic data. As a result, there were references that did not correspond to the research topic, so the inappropriate articles were excluded and the appropriate results were returned: "the use of Instagram media in learning" as many as 60 articles, "the effectiveness of Instagram media in learning" as many as 14 articles, and "Problem-Based Learning (PBL) based on the reaction rate material" as many as 40 articles.

# 2.3 Literature data extraction and analysis

Bibliometric analysis was performed using VOSviewer software. Obtain around 20 journal articles related to the theme, which are then analyzed for the content and intent of these articles.

### 3. Results and discussion

The results of the research data contained in this literature review are an analysis and summary of the articles on PBL in the application of Instagram in learning, the effectiveness of this social media (Tables 1, 2 and 3).

Table 1. Research results related to the application or implementation of Instagram media in learning.

Researcher	Research Title	Research result
Muhtar et al. (2017)	The two blended learning model designs (Moodle and Instagram): A comparative study in university level	This can improve students' skills, self-control, and motivation
Salehudin et al. (2017)	Using Instagram to support creative learning and project-based learning	Can be freely used to improve students' creative and high order thinking skills
Ambarsari (2021)	The use of Instagram as a media for learning Indonesian language and literature in Era 4.0	Learning with Instagram becomes easier for teachers and students, so students can interact freely remotely, but the materials they share with them can be properly delivered
Qisthi and Arifani (2020)	The application of project-based learning via Instagram to improve EFL students' speaking skill	Can improve students' declaring, speaking, or pronouncing skills
Astuti (2021)	Distance learning media using Instagram as a learning tool to express students' opinions	Instagram is quite effective to be used as an alternative media for learning at all levels
Dewi et al. (2021)	Implementation of the utilization of Google Classroom, Google Meet, and Instagram in the online learning process towards the 21st century	It can make online learning activities easier for teachers and students. Learning that integrates the three media can provide character education for discipline, activeness, achievement of creativity, information literacy, collaboration, and responsibility
Sari (2021)	Utilization of learning media using the "Instagram Reels" feature in Indonesian language and literature learning during the COVID-19 pandemic	It helped educators or teachers to conduct online (online) learning. Because the features offered by Instagram Reel meet their learning needs

**Table 2.** Research on the effectiveness of Instagram media in learning.

Researcher	Research title	Research result
Irwandani et al. (2020)	Effectiveness of physics learning media course assisted by Instagram on student's creative thinking skill	Learning with social media, especially Instagram, is said to be effective for students' creative thinking skills. This result is also consistent with responses from students who were rated "good" for studying Physical Learning Media (PLM) courses using social media Instagram
Pratiwi (2019)	The effectiveness of media Instagram toward the students' speaking skills of 10th Grade State Senior High School 4 Malang	State Senior High School 4 Malang's X-Class students have a significant impact on Instagram media's speaking skills, which is indicated by pre- and post-test scores
Lubis et al. (2020)	The effectiveness of using Instagram as teaching tools in learning process of 3rd semester of English Department students	Instagram is one of the most effective social media that can be used as a platform for educational and learning processes. Instagram was also effectively used as a means of student interaction, especially in discussions related to task activities and explanations
Sinatrya and Aji (2020)	The effectiveness of the online flipped classroom learning model using Instagram in Class X Vocational High School	Instagram in the learning process can be effective using the flipped classroom method. Using Instagram as a learning model is a new experience for students, and it is easy for them to access and use

**Table 3.** Research results related to PBL on reaction rate material.

Researcher	Research title	Research result
Oktaviani <i>et al</i> . (2017)	Implementation of the problem-based learning model on the creativity of students in the material of reaction rates at State Senior High School 4 Banda Aceh	The application of the PBL learning model can improve and develop the creativity of students
Zahrah <i>et al.</i> (2017)	Application of practicum with problem-based learning (PBL) Model on reaction rate material at State Senior High School 1 Lembah Selawah	PBL model with practicum method can improve students' high order thinking skills on the concept of reaction rate chapter and improve students' scientific attitude
Utami et al. (2018)	The influence of problem-based learning (PBL) learning model on cognitive learning outcomes of Class XI Students of State Vocational High school 02 Manokwari (study on the main material of the reaction rate concept)	The percentage of the effect by implementing PBL has a 30% effect on student cognitive learning outcomes
Dakabesi and Luoise (2019)	Effects of problem-based learning models on critical thinking skills in the context of reaction rate	This can improve students' critical thinking skills and academic ability
Mayasari <i>et al.</i> (2019)	Comparison of problem-based learning and guided inquiry learning models on critical thinking ability in reaction rate materials	Learning with these PBL models has shown that students have higher critical thinking skills than with guided query learning models
Nangku and Rohaeti (2019)	The effect of problem-based learning model toward students conceptual understanding and verbal communication skills in reaction rate learning	PBL models have a positive impact on student learning outcomes in terms of conceptual comprehension and language communication skills
Redhana et al. (2019)	Development of scientific learning devices with problem-based learning models through inductive reasoning on the topic of reaction rate	The PBL model, in addition to improving problem-solving skills, helps students in constructing various existing problems into new knowledge, that is easily understood by students
Suarningtyas and Hidayah (2022)	Development of student e-worksheet based on problem-based learning to practice metacognitive abilities of high school student on reaction rate material	PBL students can train metacognitive abilities on the reaction rate material

# 3.1 Application and effectiveness of using Instagram media in learning

Atmoko (2012) suggests that Instagram is a popular social media application for the public, including students. Instagram can inspire and develop creativity for its users because it has photo and video editing features that make it better and more attractive. The media used by the teacher is limited to textbooks, which is less interesting for students so that their motivation in reading the subject matter is very low. Therefore, we need media that can increase interest in learning so that students can improve their problem-solving skills.

The popularity of Instagram makes it effective to be used as a studying platform. That advantage of Instagram as a learning-based media, compared to other ones, is that it is more interesting, it is accompanied by illustrations, pictures, it is accessible anytime and anywhere, easy to use, and has no limit on the number of users. Nastiti (2019) proposed that Instagram can help teachers delivering subject matter, improving learning outcomes, helping students understand the material, and attracting students' attention—so that this platform is suitable for use as a learning medium.

Based on the findings in Tables 1 and 2, the surveys conducted received positive feedback from students. But despite that, Instagram has also its drawbacks. The disadvantages are: (i) too free to access, so students would need parental supervision; (ii) need for a stable Internet network, because if there is an Internet failure, the learning process will slow down a bit.

Based on the results contained in Table 1, the findings on implementation of this application were called effective. Muhtar et al. (2017) have shown its support in teaching and learning activities. In this case, students could improve their language proficiency, skills, selfdiscipline, and motivation. Their study aimed to determine the effectiveness of blended learning using two different media (i.e., Instagram and Moodle) for two different subjects (Mathematics and English Expression). Salehudin et al. (2017) discovered, by implementing Instagram media, that students improved creative and critical thinking skills. Their study aimed to examine this effect through the interaction of study models aided by Instagram and user experience related to conceptual understanding.

Ambarsari (2021) proposed that Instagram can be used as a learning medium, especially in learning Indonesian language and literature. Instagram makes it easier for teachers and students to interact remotely, with study material being properly notified and communicated. This study aimed to establish the

viability of the Instagram app as a medium for language and literature learning. For Qisthi and Arifani (2020), Instagram can be a fun and effective tool for learning language skills. This study aimed to examine the impact of using Instagram on improving students' speaking skills.

Astuti (2021) proposed that the use of Instagram in learning is quite effective as an alternative learning media at all levels. This study aimed to determine freedom of expression in social media and examine the use of Instagram for learning by students in class XI Vocational School in Padang. Dewi et al. (2021) found that Instagram can be convenient for teachers and students in remote learning activities. Learning that integrates Google Classroom, Google Meet and Instagram can provide character building for discipline, activity, the achievement of creativity, information literacy, collaboration, and responsibility. This study aimed to propose innovations during learning methods to achieve students' cognitive, psychomotor and character traits based on information and communications technology.

Sari (2021) proposed that the Instagram Reels feature in Indonesian language and literature learning can help educators develop online learning resources that are in line with Indonesian language and literature learning needs. The advantages of the Instagram Reels feature are also considered to be more dominant than its weaknesses. This study aimed to find out whether the Instagram Reels feature in Indonesian language and literature learning can help online learning.

Irwandani et al. (2020) found that learning physics lessons supported by Instagram were effective for students' creative thinking skills. This result is also consistent with the response of the student who rated her Physical Learning Media (PLM) course as "good" through Instagram. The aim of this study was to determine the effectiveness of Instagram-enabled PLM learning and to determine the impact on students' creative thinking skills.

Pratiwi (2019) suggested that Instagram had a significant impact on the speaking skills of Class X students at Malang State High School 4, as evidenced by the pre- and post-test results. The aim of this study was to determine the effectiveness of using Instagram for these students' speaking skills. Lubis *et al.* (2020) found that Instagram is also used effectively as a means of student interaction, especially in activity-related discussions and task explanations. In addition, almost all students use this app, so they find it easier to use. The aim of this study was to examine the effectiveness of implementing Instagram in distance teaching and learning. Sinatrya and Aji (2020) proposed using this

flipped classroom learning model to determine the effect of implementing Instagram on the learning process. This was evidenced by the significant increase before and after the test. The authors considered that using Instagram as a learning tool is a new experience that is easy for students to access and use.

The aspects that need to be considered in the effectiveness of Instagram learning are: (i) Instagram should contain useful content with high creativity; (ii) the content contained makes it easier for students to capture abstract ideas or formulations; (iii) it develops students' interest in reading and other fields of study; (iv) it helps students understand a subject considered difficult by creating content with easy-to-understand vocabulary. There are several reasons to use Instagram for research, education and study, including: (i) easy access (it can be accessed anywhere and at any time); (ii) most people, especially students and university students, have Instagram; (iii) the resources available are diverse; (iv) the duration of some resources is long enough, so it can be used to transmit material; (v) it can facilitate the interaction of educators and students.

### 3.2 PBL on reaction rate material

PBL is a learning approach in which students are presented with practical problems. The PBL model has been shown to explain the improvement of students' problem-solving and critical thinking skills. Students learning this approach observe the expertise present or try to discover the expertise they want in order to solve the problems they discover. Mahyana (2018) proposed that PBL be used as a learning model that can activate learning activities even when students are faced with problems that can stimulate critical thinking skills. Learning can be more meaningful and enhanced when students are presented with situations in which the concept applies.

In PBL, higher-order thinking skills are more required, because students are faced with a problem that requires them to solve it based on their ability to organize all their knowledge and experience, as well as the external conditions that are available or accessible. Rusman et al. (2010) proposed the following characteristics of the PBL model: (i) The problem is the starting point for learning; (ii) The problem posed exists in the real world and is unstructured; (iii) The problem increasingly requires multiple perspectives; (iv) The problems challenge the students' knowledge, attitudes and skills, which requires the identification of new areas of learning, mainly self-directed learning (v) Use of multiple sources of knowledge and information; (vi) collaborative, communicative Learning is and

collaborative; (vii) The development of research and problem-solving skills is identical to the acquisition of knowledge to find solutions to problems; (viii) Integration of the learning process; (ix) PBL includes evaluation and review of the student and user experience of the learning process.

Based on the survey results shown in Table 1, the data from the survey conducted shows positive feedback from the students. The implementation of PBL models in the learning of kinetic chemistry of materials is very effective in applications. Oktaviani et al. (2017) found positive results with the implementation of the PBL model in the subject of reaction rate, in which the students' creativity obtained an average value of 92, which is categorized as very good, which shows that the students' creativity developed well after implementation of PBL models in a chemical kinetics class. The aim of this study was to explain the students' creativity after implementing the PBL model in the reaction rate subject material.

Utami *et al.* (2018) showed that 30% of the results came from implementing PBL models in experimental classes. The objectives of this study were to find differences in cognitive learning outcomes between students taught through PBL and conventional learning and to find out how much the PBL model affects the cognitive learning outcomes of Class XI grader State Vocational High School 02 Manokwari.

Zahrah et al. (2017) found that PBL, as a model that uses practical techniques, can enhance students' critical thinking about this reaction rate concept and improve their scientific attitudes. This study aimed to determine the effectiveness of PBL models with practical techniques in improving students' critical thinking.

Dakabesi and Luoise (2019) suggested that students who learned in experiential classes were better at critical thinking than those who learned using traditional models. This study aimed to measure the effectiveness of improving students' critical thinking skills using PBL models. Mayasari *et al.* (2019) suggested that learning using the PBL model resulted in students' higher critical thinking skills than using the guided exploratory learning model. The aim of this study was to investigate learning models between PBL and guided questions that would best serve as response rate features in students' critical thinking skills.

Nangku and Rohaeti (2019) suggested that the implementation of a PBL model positively affects students' learning outcomes in terms of conceptual understanding and verbal communication skills. The aim of the article was to determine the impact of applying a project-based learning model on students' conceptual understanding and language skills when learning about

reaction rate. Redhana *et al.* (2019) found that the PBL model, in addition to improving problem-solving skills, also helped students transform various existing problems into new knowledge that was easily understood by them. The aim of this research was to advance and represent the characteristics of learning devices that communicate with PBL models through prolegomenon reasoning on the topic of reaction rate.

Suarningtyas and Hidayah (2022) suggested that the Student E-Worksheet Based on PBL could train students' metacognitive skills in reaction rate material. Arends (2008) proposed three learning outcomes achieved by students taught with PBL: (i) research and problem-solving skills; (ii) learning adult role behavior; and (iii) suggested independent learning skills. Through problem-solving, students are empowered to use their logical reasoning, problem-solving and intellectual skills. Ultimately, PBL educates students to become independent learners. Improving their problemsolving skills can be very useful in life, as they develop the ability to deal with any problem in the environment.

There are certainly advantages and disadvantages to implementing PBL in the learning process. The benefits of PBL include: (i) problem solving can be a very effective and excellent technique for improving students' understanding; (ii) it can also be satisfactory for improving students' skills and expanding their knowledge; (iii) PBL can bring joy to students when solving problems; (iv) it can give students the opportunity to apply their knowledge in the real world. On the other hand, the weak points of applying problemsolving learning are: (i) that even when students are not interested or believe that the problem, they are studying is difficult to solve; (ii) they do not understand why they are trying to solve the problem; (iii) there is reluctance to solve problems when they are not at hand; and (iv) when they study, they do not learn what they want to learn.

### 4. Conclusions

Based on the results of the observations and discussions presented, it can be concluded that applying the PBL model to Instagram-based chemistry learning is effective. Observations from various studies on the use of PBL models show that it can improve critical thinking skills, solve provided problems and help students understand material more easily, because students do not just record, visualize, and memorize, but are required to actively form new knowledge through the problem-solving process. In addition, the use of Instagram in learning can also have a positive influence, increasing creativity and helping students to communicate the

subject matter in a concise and easy-to-understand way using the resources provided. However, the application of a PBL model using Instagram also has several weaknesses, such as the need for a stable internet connection and, if students find it difficult to understand the problems presented, they tend to be lazy about finding solutions to these problems.

### **Authors' contribution**

**Conceptualization**: Widarti, H. R.; Rokhim, D. A. **Data curation**: Baharsyah, A.; Syafrudin, A. B.

**Formal Analysis**: Baharsyah, A. **Funding acquisition**: Not applicable.

**Investigation**: Not applicable. **Methodology**: Baharsyah, A.

Project administration: Widarti, H. R.

Resources: Rokhim, D. A. Software: Not applicable. Supervision: Not applicable. Validation: Not applicable. Visualization: Baharsyah, A.

Writing - original draft: Widarti, H. R.; Baharsyah, A.;

Rokhim, D. A.; Syafrudin, A. B.

Writing – review & editing: Widarti, H. R.; Baharsyah,

A.; Rokhim, D. A.; Syafrudin, A. B.

### Data availability statement

All data sets were generated or analyzed in the current study.

# **Funding**

Not applicable.

# Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

### References

Al Mardhiah, N.; Maulina, S.; Prasetyo, S. K. Pemanfaatan Media Sosial Instagram dalam Pembelajaran Bahasa Indonesia di Tingkat Perguruan Tinggi: Sebuah Gagasan Konseptual. *Prosiding Seminar Nasional Sastra, Pedagogik, dan Bahasa.* **2021**, *3* (1), 236–246.

Ambarsari, Z. Penggunaan Instagram sebagai media pembelajaran bahasa dan sastra Indonesia pada era 4.0. In: Prosiding Seminar Nasional Pembelajaran Bahasa

- dan Sastra Indonesia (SemNas PBSI)-3. FBS Unimed Press, 2021. p. 81-86. http://digilib.unimed.ac.id/id/eprint/41225 (accessed 2022-11-10).
- Amir, T. Inovasi Pendidikan Melalui Problem-Based Learning. Prenada Media Group, 2009.
- Arends, R. I. *Belajar Untuk Mengajar* (Terjemahan Helly Prajitno Soetjipto & Sri Mulyantini Soetjipto); MeGraw Hils, 2008.
- Astuti, I. I. Media Pembelajaran Jarak Jauh Menggunakan Instagram sebagai Sarana Belajar Mengungkapkan Pendapat Peserta Didik. *Jurnal Pancasila dan Kewarganegaraan.* **2021**, *6* (2), 12–22. https://doi.org/10.24269/jpk.v6.n2.2021.pp12-22
- Atmoko, B. *Instagram Handbook Tips Fotografi Ponsel* Media Kita, 2012.
- Dakabesi, D.; Luoise, I. S. Y. The Effect of Problem-Based Learning Model on Critical Thinking Skills in The Context of Chemical Reaction Rate. *J. Educ. Learn.* **2019**, *13* (3), 395–401. https://doi.org/10.11591/edulearn.v13i3.13887
- Dewi, K.; Pratisia, T.; Putra, A. K. Implementasi Pemanfaatan Google Classroom, Google Meet, dan Instagram dalam Proses Pembelajaran Online Menuju Abad 21. *Jurnal Integrasi Dan Harmoni Inovatif Ilmu-Ilmu Sosial.* **2021**, *1* (5), 533–541. https://doi.org/10.17977/um063v1i5p533-541
- Fidian, A. Pengaruh Penggunaan Instagram Sebagai Media Pembelajaran Terhadap Peningkatan Motivasi Menulis Mahasiswa. *Jurnal Perspektif Pendidikan*. **2017**, *11* (2), 8–14.
- Hamiyah, N.; Jauhar, M., *Strategi Belajar-Mengajar di Kelas*. Prestasi Pustaka, 2014.
- Indah. Pengembangan-Komik Kimia Berbasis Etnosains Berbantuan Instagram Pada Materi Koloid. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Jambi, Indonesia, 2021. https://repository.unja.ac.id/id/eprint/21269 (accessed 2022-11-10).
- Irwandani, M.; Juariyah, S. Pengembangan Media Pembelajaran Berupa Komik Fisika Berbantuan Sosial Media Instagram sebagai Alternatif Pembelajaran. *Jurnal Ilmiah Pendidikan Fisika Al-Biruni.* **2016**, *5* (1), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.24042/jpifalbiruni.v5i1.103

- Irwandani, M.; Pricilia, A.; Sari, P. M.; Anugrah, A. Effectiveness of Physics Learning Media Course assisted by Instagram on Student's Creative Thinking Skill. *J. Phys.: Conf. Ser.* **2020**, *1467* (1), 012006. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1467/1/012006
- Jayadiningrat, M. G.; Ati, E. K. Peningkatan Keterampilan Memecahkan Masalah melalui Model Pembelajaran Problem-Based Learning (PBL) pada Mata Pelajaran Kimia. *Jurnal Pendidikan Kimia Indonesia*. **2018**, 2 (1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.23887/jpk.v2i1.14133
- Lubis, S. I. S.; Rayani, F.; Salmiah, M. The Effectiveness of Using Instagram as Teaching Tools in Learning Process of 3rd Semester of English Department Students. *Jurnal Bahasa Lingua Scientia*. **2020**, *12* (2), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.21274/ls.2020.12.2.217-228
- Mahyana. Penerapan Model Problem-Based Learning untuk Meningkatkan Keterampilan Berpikir Kritis Siswa pada Kelas IV MIN 25 Aceh Besar. Ph.D. Thesis, State Islamic University Ar-Raniry, Indonesia, 2018.
- Mayasari, A.; Fazli, R.; Rahmayani, I. The comparison of problem-based learning and guided inquiry learning model to the critical thinking ability in rate reaction. *J. Edu. Sci.* **2019**, *5* (1), 57–69. https://doi.org/10.3314/jes.v5i1.360
- Memnun, D. S.; Akkaya, R.; Hacıomeroglu, G. The effect of prospective teachers problem solving beliefs on self-efficacy beliefs about mathematical literacy. *Journal of College Teaching and Learning Fourth Quarter.* **2012**, *9* (4), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.19030/tlc.v9i4.7299
- Muhtar, S. N.; Kariadinata, R.; Rahayu, Y. N.; Laelatulatifah, A. The two blended learning model designs (Moodle and Instagram): A comparative study in university level. *2nd International Conference on Sociology Education*. **2017**, 2, 303–307. https://doi.org/10.5220/0007108609430947
- Nangku, M. S; Rohaeti, E. The Effect of Problem-Based Learning Model toward Students' Conceptual Understanding and Verbal Communication Skills in Reaction Rate Learning. *J. Phys.: Conf. Ser.* **2019**, *1397* 012037. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1397/1/012037
- Nastiti, R. Pengembangan Media Pembelajaran Komik Fisika SMA Berbasis Instagram dengan Aplikasi *Comic*

*Life* pada Pokok Bahasan Gerak Lurus. Ph.D. Thesis, SKRIPSI Jurusan Fisika Fakultas, Indonesia, 2019.

Oktaviani, C.; Nurmallah, C.; Mahidin, D. Implementasi Model *Problem-Based Learning* Terhadap Kreativitas Peserta Didik pada Materi Laju Reaksi di SMAN 4 Banda Aceh. *Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia*. **2017**, 5 (1), 12–19.

Pratiwi, M. F. The effectiveness of media Instagram toward the students' speaking skills of Tenth Grade In SMAN 4 Malang. *J. Chem. Inf. Model.* **2013**, *53* (9), 1689–1699.

Prilianti, R. Pengembangan Perangkat Pembelajaran Pendalaman Materi Kimia Redoks Berbasis Empat Pilar Pendidikan melalui Lesson Study. Artikel Tesis, Universitas Negeri Semarang, 2012.

Qisthi, N.; Arifani, Y. The Application of Project based Learning via Instagram to Improve EFL Students' Speaking Skill. *Proceedings of the Borneo International Conference on Education and Social Sciences (BICESS 2018).* 2020, 201-209. https://doi.org/10.5220/0009018802010209

Redhana, I. W.; Sudria, I. B. N.; Suardana, I. N.; Suja, I. W.; Haryani, S. Students satisfaction index on chemistry learning process. *Indones. J. Sci. Educ.* **2019**, 8 (1), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.15294/jpii.v8i1.15331

Rusman, E.; van Bruggen, J.; Sloep, P.; Koper, R. Fostering Trust in Virtual Project Teams: Towards a Design Framework Grounded in a Trust Worthiness ANtecedents (TWAN) Schema. *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud.* **2010**, *68* (11), 834–850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2010.07.003

Salehudin, M.; Sarimin, D. S.; Rondonuwu, R. H. S.; Yunus, M.; Safiah, I. Using Instagram to support creative learning and project based learning. *International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology*. **2020**, 29 (5), 4866–4876.

Sari, A. D. Pemanfaatan Media Pembelajaran dengan Menggunakan Fitur "Reels Instagram" pada Pembelajaran Bahasa dan Sastra Indonesia. *Prosiding Seminar Nasional PBSI-IV Tahun 2021 Tema: Pembelajaran Bahasa dan Sastra Indonesia Berbasis Digital Guna Mendukung Implementasi Merdeka Belajar. pp.* 2021, 33–38.

Sariono. Kurikulum 2013: Kurikulum Generasi Emas. *Jurnal Pendidikan*, **2013**, *3* (2).

Siahaan, C.; Salomo, S.; Adrian, D. Media Sosial Instagram sebagai Sarana Berkomunikasi di Lingkungan Masyarakat. Jurnal Ilmiah Ilmu Pendidikan. **2022**, *5* (8), 2843–2848. https://doi.org/10.54371/jiip.v5i8.774

Sinatrya, P.; Aji, S. U. Efektivias Model Pembelajaran Flipped Classroom Daring Menggunakan Media Sosial Instagram di Kelas X SMK. *Primatika. J. Pend. Mat.* **2020**, 9 (2), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.30872/primatika.v9i2.368

Suarningtyas, S.; Hidayah, R. Development of Student E-Worksheet Based on PBL (Problem-Based Learning) to Practice Metacognitive Abilities of High School Student on Reaction Rate Material. *Int. J. Curr. Sci. Res. Rev.* **2022**, *5* (5), 1680–1687. https://doi.org/10.47191/ijcsrr/V5-i5-35

Sudarsana, M. Pembuatan Program Pembelajaran Interaktif Laju Reaksi Berbantuan Komputer untuk Pembelajaran Kimia SMA. Skripsi tidak dipublikasikan. Singaraja: Universitas Pendidikan Ganesha, 2010.

Sujiono, S.; Widiyatmoko, A. Pengembangan modul IPA Terpadu berbasis Problem-Based Learning tema gerak untuk meningkatkan kemampuan berpikir kritis siswa. *Unnes Science Education Journal.* **2014**, *3* (3), 685–693. https://doi.org/10.15294/usej.v3i3.4287

Tranfield, D.; Denyer, D.; Smart, P. Towards a methodology for developing evidence-informed management knowledge by means of systematic review. Br. J. Manag. **2003**, *14* (3), 207–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.00375

Utami, T. S.; Santi, D.; Suparman, A. R. Pengaruh Model Pembelajaran Problem-Based Learning (PBL) terhadap Hasil Belajar Kognitif Peserta Didik Kelas XI SMK Negeri 02 Manokwari (Studi Pada Materi Pokok Konsep Laju Reaksi) Tri. *Arfak Chem: Chemistry Education Journal.* **2018**, *1* (1), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.30862/accej.v1i1.45

Yang, L.; Chen, Z.; Liu, T.; Gong, Z.; Yu, Y.; Wang, J. Global Trends of Solid Waste Research from 1997 to 2011 by Using Bibliometric Analysis. *Scientometrics*. **2013**, *96* (1), 133–146. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-012-0911-6

Zahrah, F.; Halim, A.; Hasan, M. Penerapan Praktikum dengan Model Problem-Based Learning (PBL) pada Materi Laju Reaksi di Sma Negeri 1 Lembah Selawah. *Indones. J. Sci. Educ.* **2017**, *5* (2), 115–123. https://doi.org/10.24815/jpsi.v5i2.9826